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Directors’  
Report

The directors present their annual report and the audited 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Principal activity and review of the business 

Atradius Reinsurance DAC (“Atradius Re”) is a leading market 
reinsurer providing capacity to primary insurance companies 
in credit and bonding insurance.

Atradius Re currently assumes business from 62 countries, 
on all continents, maintaining a balanced diversity within 
the portfolio. The underlying third party business consists of 
around 59% credit insurance and 41% bonding, based on pre-
mium volume. The business is underwritten by a multilingual, 
highly trained and experienced, international team of under-
writers at Atradius Re’s offices in Dublin, Ireland.

Atradius Re has created long-standing relationships with 
its clients and specialist brokers. The quality of these client 
and broker relationships is underscored by the Company’s 
unique offering: combining the Atradius Group’s skills in the 
primary underwriting of credit insurance and bonding risks 
with its own distinctive approach and expertise in structur-
ing reinsurance solutions. In this way Atradius Re can antici-
pate and respond to its clients’ specific and changing needs. 
It continues to evolve and succeed in the face of increasing 
competition and is one of only very few reinsurers to have 
the capacity to re-underwrite. Those services create a very 
distinctive added value to its clients. Moreover, because it can 
cross-promote and thus provide an evolving portfolio of addi-
tional expert services, Atradius Re is widely acknowledged to 
play an important role in the international development and 
growth of the credit and bonding insurance industry, particu-
larly in emerging markets. The Company is an active member 
of and contributor to ICISA, PASA, and the Aman Union.

The Company is authorised and regulated by the Central Bank 
of Ireland and is authorised to conduct reinsurance business 
in the EU internal market in accordance with the provisions of 
the European Union (Insurance and Reinsurance) regulations, 
2015. It is authorised to carry on the business of non-life rein-
surance in Ireland and in other jurisdictions, subject to com-
plying with any requirements in those other jurisdictions. It is 
licensed and/or registered individually in a number of foreign 

jurisdictions including Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, China, 
Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, India, Mexico, Paraguay, the 
Republic of Panama, and Venezuela.

Atradius Re, based in Dublin, Ireland, is a subsidiary of Atradius 
Investments Limited, also based in Dublin, Ireland, which is 
a subsidiary of Atradius N.V., a company incorporated in the 
Netherlands. Atradius N.V.’s ultimate parent is Grupo Catalana 
Occidente, S.A, a company incorporated and listed in Spain.

Loss for the year and future developments

In 2020, Atradius Re recorded a loss after tax of EUR 57.2 mil-
lion. The profit and loss account for the year ended December 
31, 2020, can be seen on pages 16 and 17.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2020 2019

€’000 €’000

Group reinsurance revenue 278,130 374,011

Third party reinsurance revenue 146,918 140,218

Total Revenue 425,048 514,229

Gross Claims ratio % 69% 47%

Gross Expenses and commissions ratio % 44% 45%

Gross Combined operating Ratio % 113% 92%

Total Assets 1,502,377 1,582,736

Total Liabilities 883,779 908,055

During 2020, due to the impact of Covid-19, the Company’s 
total revenue, or premium earned during the year, decreased 
from EUR 514.2 million to EUR 425.0 million. The claims ratio 
has increased from 47% to 69% and the commissions and 
direct operating expenses ratio has fallen from 45% to 44%, 
resulting in a combined ratio of 113%.

Reinsurance revenue from the Atradius Group fell by  
25.6% (2019: 5.2%), primarily due to the implementation  
of trade credit insurance schemes in several countries,  
namely Germany, France, Belgium, Italy, Spain, the United 
Kingdom, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Denmark and 
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Norway, through which the governments in those countries 
act as a reinsurer and shares in the risk of losses up to agreed 
levels, in return for agreed percentages to be ceded to them 
of gross written premium. Third party reinsurance revenue 
for 2020, of EUR 146.9 million, has increased from EUR 140.2 
million in 2019. This increase is due to organic growth on prior 
underwriting years, so those not impacted by Covid-19.

The increase in the claims ratio, from 47% to 69%, is as a result 
of additional prudence in respect of underwriting years 2019 
and 2020, reflecting the uncertainties arising out of the Covid 
19 pandemic and its impact on global economies.

The Company’s prudent investment portfolio continues to 
be impacted by the current difficult environment, with low 
or negative interest rates and volatile equity markets. The 
Company’s investment strategy remains on course, with a 
focus on preserving capital to avoid large losses on the invest-
ment portfolio.

No dividend is expected to be paid, during 2020, to the 
Company’s immediate parent company, Atradius Investments 
Limited (2019: nil).

The Company’s key objective and long term strategy includes 
secured net profits, sustainable growth and a strong capital 
position. The Company continues to maintain a conservative, 
forward looking underwriting approach, with an emphasis on 
increasing profitability thresholds over the cycle.

Outlook for 2021

The global economy is expected to recover, albeit unevenly, 
to a relatively large extent in 2021, as global vaccination roll-
outs against Covid-19 accelerate and lockdown measures 
are relaxed, and business and consumer confidence returns. 
Emerging markets are forecast to benefit to a larger degree, 
which is skewed by a projected strong Chinese growth due to 
pent up demand and an effective pandemic response. Latin 
America and Eastern Europe are expected to grow slightly 
more slowly, also as a result of the lack, or reduction, of fis-
cal support measures. Advanced economies are projected to 
recover to a growth of 3.9%, with the Eurozone taking longer 
to recover due to extended lockdowns.

Bankruptcies are expected to increase in almost all econo-
mies, as government measures against insolvencies lapse. 
This rollback of fiscal support measures is however expected 
to be gradual, allowing the recovery to take hold. Moreover, 
monetary policy is expected to continue to be used actively by 
central banks to support the recovery.

The full impact of Brexit is still uncertain, and indeed the 
impact of Covid-19, but Atradius Re and the wider Atradius 
Group continue to monitor the risks they may impose and 
are well prepared for various scenarios, and will continue to 
support customers who may be affected.

 Atradius Re aims to continue to be a reliable business partner 
for all of our customers, steering them away from risks and 
towards opportunities, where possible, and enabling trade 
and managing risks on their behalf.

As well as this support for our customers, we will continue 
to focus on our own business to ensure we maintain our 
strong capital position in order to withstand financial  
stress, meet our financial obligations and ultimately deliver 
shareholder value.

 
Credit Rating

In 2020, the Atradius Group had credit ratings from A.M. Best 
and Moody’s.

A.M. Best rates the key operating entities of the Atradius 
Group, which includes Atradius Reinsurance DAC, with a finan-
cial strength rating of ‘A excellent, outlook stable’ and Moody’s 
with ‘A2, Outlook Stable’.

These ratings are a reflection of the the Atradius Group being 
financially strong and geographically well diversified, with a 
solid growth and risk profile, and a strong competitive posi-
tion within the global trade credit insurance market. 

Risk management

As a global reinsurance company, Atradius Re is exposed to 
many and varied risks linked both to the nature of our busi-
ness and to the external environment.

The risks to which the Company is exposed could materially 
affect our business, the results of our operations and our 
financial condition. Our risk management framework has 
been developed to identify, assess and manage these risks, 
and ensure that all risks assumed are in line with the risk 
appetite of the Company.

The Company has classified its risks as insurance, financial 
and operational. Insurance risks are the risks of financial loss 
as a direct result of providing reinsurance; these are pre-
dominantly arising from the risk of non-payment by a buyer 
covered by a policy (credit reinsurance) or the risk of non-per-
formance of a customer (bonding reinsurance). Financial risks 
arise out of developments in financial markets and with coun-
terparties – including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
Operational risk is the risks of direct or indirect losses result-
ing from human error, inadequate or failed internal processes, 
systems or external events – and includes the risk of fraud.

We refer to a description of the Company’s main risks and 
uncertainties, and how these are managed, in note 3, Risk and 
Capital Management, in the financial statements.
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Compliance Management 

Our compliance practices support our business, our reputation 
and our integrity. These elements are of importance to our 
customers, suppliers, staff and other stakeholders. Complying 
with relevant laws, rules and regulations and maintaining  
a high standard in terms of ethics and integrity, leads to 
lower operational risk and more stable business processes.  
The Atradius code of conduct outlines the basic corpo-
rate, legal and ethical compliance principles and guidelines 
that apply to all employees and that govern operations and  
its employees’ business conduct and actions. The individual 
compliance codes address specific compliance areas in more 
detail and set out detailed compliance requirements that must 
be met across the Company and which must be included in 
existing business procedures. For the monitoring and test-
ing of effectiveness of these requirements, close alignment is 
sought with the activities of the Operational Risk Management 
and Internal Audit Units.

The Company is subject to the Central Bank of Ireland 
Corporate Governance Requirements for Insurance 
Undertakings 2015, but does not fall in scope of the additional 
requirements for major institutions. Atradius Re has estab-
lished a separate Audit Committee and Risk Committee.

Directors’ Compliance Statement 

The directors are responsible for securing the Company’s 
compliance with its relevant obligations and confirm that 
the following have been done:

• the drawing up of a compliance policy statement setting 
out the Company’s policies that, in the opinion of the direc-
tors, are appropriate for the Company regarding compli-
ance by the Company with its relevant obligations;

• the putting in place of appropriate arrangements or  
structures that are, in the directors’ opinion, designed to 
secure material compliance with the Company’s relevant 
obligations; and

• the conduct of a review of such arrangements or structures 
 during the relevant financial year.  

Capital Management

The Company’s strength is evidenced by its strong and grow-
ing capital base with capital and reserves at the end of 2020 
of EUR 619 million, reduced from EUR 675 million at the end 
of 2019.

The Company was in compliance with its regulatory capital 
requirements throughout the year.

Directors, secretary and their interests

The directors who served during the financial year and the 
present directors of the Company are listed on page 3.

The directors and secretary had no interests in the shares 
of the Company or any other group undertakings as at 31 
December 2020 and 2019. The Directors are not required to 
retire by rotation.

Creditor payment policy

It is the Company’s policy to agree with suppliers’ terms of 
trade on an individual basis at the time orders are placed. 
Payments are then made in accordance with contractual obli-
gations. The payment policy applies to all payments to cred-
itors for revenue and capital supplies of goods and services 
without exception.

Transactions involving Directors

There were no contracts or arrangements of any significance 
in relation to the business of the Company in which the  
directors had any interest, as defined by the Companies 
Act 2014, at any time during the financial year ended 31 
December 2020.

Accounting Records

In accordance with sections 281 to 285 of the Companies 
Act, 2014, the measures taken by the directors to secure 
compliance with the Company’s obligation to keep proper 
accounting records are the use of appropriate systems  
and procedures and employment of competent persons.  
The accounting records are kept at the registered office  
of the Company.

Statement of Relevant Audit information 

The directors at the time when the directors’ report is 
approved have confirmed that:

• so far as that the directors are aware, there is no relevant 
audit information of which the Company’s auditors are 
unaware; and

• that the directors have taken all the steps that they ought 
to have taken as a director in order to be aware of any rele-
vant audit information and to establish that the Company’s 
auditors are aware of that information.
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Auditors Note

In accordance with Section 383 (1) of the Companies Act, 
2014, the independent auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm, 
have expressed their willingness to continue in office.  
 
 
Going Concern
The directors continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting in preparing the annual financial statements, in 
the reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the fore-
seeable future.

We refer to Note 1 in the Financial Statements.

Political Donation

There were no political donations during the financial year, 
2020 (2019: Nil).

Events after the reporting date

There have been no significant events affecting the Company 
since the reporting date, which would require adjustment or 
disclosure in the financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Niamh Derivan 
Finance Director

Daniel Stausberg   
Managing Director

5 March, 2021
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Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement 

The directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ 
report and the financial statements in accordance with the 
Companies Act 2014 and the applicable regulations.

Irish company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under the law, the directors 
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland and FRS 103 Insurance Contracts (“relevant financial reporting framework”). Under company 
law, the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at the financial year end date and of the profit or loss of the company 
for the financial year and otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014.

In preparing those financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies for the Company Financial Statements and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• state whether the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards, identify 
those standards, and note the effect and the reasons for any material departure from those standards; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will 
continue in business.

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the company keeps or causes to be kept adequate accounting records which 
correctly explain and record the transactions of the company, enable at any time the assets, liabilities, financial position and 
profit or loss of the company to be determined with reasonable accuracy, enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
and directors’ report comply with the Companies Act 2014 and enable the financial statements to be audited.

They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Independent Auditors’ 
Report
To the members of Atradius Reinsurance DAC

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Atradius Reinsurance DAC’s financial 
statements:

• give a true and fair view of the company’s assets, liabilities 
and financial position as at 31 December 2020 and of its 
loss for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice in Ireland (accounting stand-
ards issued by the Financial Reporting Council of the UK, 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” and Irish law); and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

We have audited the financial statements, included within  
the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements,  
which comprise:

• the Balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

• the Profit and Loss Account for the year then ended;

• the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year  
then ended;

• the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then 
ended; and

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a 
description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the  
Audit Committee.

 

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (Ireland) (“ISAs (Ireland)”) and appli-
cable law.

Our responsibilities under ISAs (Ireland) are further described 
in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence 

We remained independent of the company in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Ireland, which includes IAASA’s Ethical 
Standard as applicable to public interest entities, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that 
non-audit services prohibited by IAASA’s Ethical Standard 
were not provided to the company.

Other than those disclosed in note 11 to the financial state-
ments, we have provided no non-audit services to the com-
pany in the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.
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Our audit approach

Materiality 

• €4,080,000 (2019: €5,400,000)

• Based on 1% of gross written premium.

Audit scope 

• We performed a full scope audit of the company’s financial 
statements, based on materiality levels.

Key audit matters 

• Valuation of claims outstanding.

• Estimation of gross premiums earned. 

The scope of our audit 

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and 
assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors 
made subjective judgements, for example in respect of signif-
icant accounting estimates that involved making assumptions 
and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As 
in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management 
override of internal controls, including evaluating whether 
there was evidence of bias by the directors that represented 
a risk of material misstatement due to fraud. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ pro-
fessional judgement, were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and include 
the most significant assessed risks of material misstate-
ment (whether or not due to fraud) identified by the auditors, 
including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall 
audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, 
and any comments we make on the results of our procedures 
thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these 
matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by 
our audit. 

Key audit matter

Valuation of claims outstanding 

Refer to Note 1 (Accounting Policies) and notes 2, 3 and 6 to 
the financial statements

The claims outstanding provision, which arises from both 
group and third party business is the company’s largest lia-
bility and its valuation involves considerable judgement.
The group business claims outstanding provision including 
incurred but not reported claims are based on the company’s 
share of the technical provisions as reported by the ceding 
group company.

For third party business, reserves are determined on an indi-
vidual contract basis based on an estimated ultimate loss 
ratios which are regularly reviewed for development.  Where 
known large events have occurred, specific IBNR may be 
established for these events. 

The third party business reserves are also reviewed on an 
overall basis by applying standard actuarial techniques, which 
involve key assumptions, to determine the adequacy of the 
booked claims outstanding provision.  The key assumptions 
underlying these calculations are reporting delays, develop-
ment patterns and loss ratios.

As a result, the valuation of claims outstanding was a key area 
of focus.

Estimation of gross premiums earned

Refer to Note 1 (Accounting Policies) and notes 2, 4 and 16 to 
the financial statements.

Premiums written relates to business incepted during the 
period, together with any difference between booked premi-
ums for prior years and those previously accrued, and include 
estimates of premiums due but not yet receivable or notified 
to the Company, less an allowance for cancellations.

Group premium income is based on the estimate of premium 
income reported by the ceding group companies each year.
For third party business, the company writes risk attaching 
business where the amount of premium to be written in indi-
vidual contracts is not known with certainty at the start of 
the contract.  An estimate of the expected premium income 
is made at the beginning of each third party business contract 
which is then earned over the duration of the contract based 
on an actuarial risk earnings model incorporating actuarial 
statistical techniques to evaluate the appropriate earned pre-
mium income.  Premium estimates and related earned pre-
mium income are reviewed by reference to reports received 
from the third party companies to determine whether pre-
mium adjustments are necessary.
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Due to the judgement and estimates involved in the estima-
tion of gross written and earned premium income, this was a 
key area of focus.

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

We evaluated the actuarial methodologies and key  
assumptions with the assistance of our actuarial specialists.
This involved:

• assessing the methodologies and assumptions underpin-
ning management’s actuarial valuations for both group 
and third party business; and

• carrying out our own independent valuations for the major 
classes of third party business.

Our work included an assessment of management’s analysis 
of the output of the calculations from the actuarial models.

For group business, this included a recalculation of the share 
of claims outstanding on business ceded to the Company hav-
ing regard for management’s reconciliations to the amounts 
recorded in the financial statements of the group companies. 
We tested the controls over claims processing and payment.
We tested the reconciliation of the data used in the actuarial 
models to the underlying systems and reconciled the actuarial 
valuation outputs to the financial statements.

We gained an understanding of the process for booking  
premium income for group business and reconciled the 
amounts recorded by the Company, on sample basis, to the 
information recorded in the financial records for the group 
ceding companies.

For third party business:

• we tested the controls over the initial booking of the 
premium incomes estimates on individual contracts  
and the subsequent review and adjustment of premium 
income estimates;

• for a sample of third party contracts, we tested the key 
assumptions underlying the premium estimates to the 
original contract treaties and/or to subsequent reported 
premium amounts from third party statements;

• with the assistance of our actuarial specialists, we consid-
ered the appropriateness of the earning patterns applied to 
the major classes of business for credit and surety.

No material exceptions were noted as a result of these 
procedures.

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we per-
formed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the 
financial statements as a whole, taking into account the struc-
ture of the company, the accounting processes and controls, 
and the industry in which it operates. 

Materiality

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of 
materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for mate-
riality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped 
us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing 
and extent of our audit procedures on the individual financial 
statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the 
effect of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate 
on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materi-
ality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Overall 
materiality

€4,080,000 (2019: €5,400,000).

How we  
determined it

1% of gross written premium.

Rationale for 
benchmark 
applied

We believe that gross written pre-
mium is a primary measure used by 
shareholders in assessing the perfor-
mance of the entity, and is a generally 
accepted auditing benchmark..

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would  
report to them misstatements identified during our audit 
above €204,000 (2019: €270,000) as well as misstatements 
below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment of the compa-
ny’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of 
accounting included:

• Obtaining management’s going concern assessment for 
the going concern period;

• Obtaining an understanding of the company’s liquidity and 
capital position and plans for the period of the assessment; 
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• Evaluation of the availability of liquidity as disclosed in note 
3 of the financial statements;

• Evaluation of the company’s forecast capital positions over 
the period of the going concern period including an evalu-
ation of the impact of Covid-19 on the financial outlook of 
the company; and 

• Reviewing the going concern disclosures included in the 
financial statements in order to assess whether the disclo-
sures were appropriate and in accordance with Irish GAAP.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified 
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions 
that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt 
on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date on which the 
financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that 
the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.
However, because not all future events or conditions can be 
predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the compa-
ny’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors 
with respect to going concern are described in the relevant 
sections of this report.

Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in 
the Directors’ Report and Audited Financial Statements 
other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The directors are responsible for the other informa-
tion. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, we do not express 
an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly 
stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our 
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency 
or material misstatement, we are required to perform proce-
dures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement 
of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the 
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Directors’ Report, we also considered 
whether the disclosures required by the Companies Act 2014 
have been included.
Based on the responsibilities described above and our work 
undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (Ireland) and the 
Companies Act 2014 require us to also report certain opinions 
and matters as described below:

• In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit, the information given in the Directors’ Report 
for the year ended 31 December 2020 is consistent with 
the financial statements and has been prepared in accord-
ance with applicable legal requirements.

• Based on our knowledge and understanding of the com-
pany and its environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we have not identified any material misstatements 
in the Directors’ Report. 

 
Responsibilities for the financial statements  
and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial  
statements

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities 
Statement set out on page 9, the directors are responsible 
for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that 
they give a true and fair view.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control 
as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of account-
ing unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company 
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the  
financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are consid-
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ered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
Our audit testing might include testing complete popula-
tions of certain transactions and balances, possibly using  
data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves  
selecting a limited number of items for testing, rather than 
testing complete populations. We will often seek to target 
particular items for testing based on their size or risk charac-
teristics. In other cases, we will use audit sampling to enable 
us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the 
sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the IAASA website at: 

https://www.iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
a98202dc9c3a/Description_of_auditors responsibilities_for_
audit.pdf 

This description forms part of our auditors’ report.
 
 
Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and 
only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with 
section 391 of the Companies Act 2014 and for no other pur-
pose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to 
whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come 
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2014 opinions on other matters

• We have obtained all the information and explanations 
which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit.

• In our opinion the accounting records of the company were 
sufficient to permit the financial statements to be readily 
and properly audited.

• The financial statements are in agreement with the 
accounting records.

Other exception reporting

Directors’ remuneration and transactions
Under the Companies Act 2014 we are required to report to 
you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors’ remunera-
tion and transactions specified by sections 305 to 312 of that 
Act have not been made. We have no exceptions to report 
arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment

We were appointed by the directors on 18 June 2018 to audit 
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 
2018 and subsequent financial periods. The period of total 
uninterrupted engagement is 3 years, covering the years 
ended 31 December 2018 to 31 December 2020. 

Padraig Osborne
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Dublin
9 March 2021

• The maintenance and integrity of the Atradius N.V. web-
site is the responsibility of the directors; the work carried  
out by the auditors does not involve consideration of  
these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to 
the financial statements since they were initially presented 
on the website.

• Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the prepa-
ration and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Profit & Loss Account

TECHNICAL ACCOUNT 
GENERAL REINSURANCE BUSINESS

 
Note

2020
€'000

2019
€'000

Gross premiums written  4 408,278 541,281

Change in unearned premiums and unexpired risks  7 16,770 (27,052)

Gross premiums earned  4 425,048 514,229

Outward reinsurance premiums   (63,922) (59,660)

Change in unearned outward reinsurance premiums  7 (2,433) 1,922

Outward reinsurance premiums earned   (66,355) (57,738)

Net earned premiums   358,693 456,491

Total Technical Income   358,693 456,491

 

Gross claims paid   226,725 224,500

Reinsurers' share   (33,888) (16,608)

Net claims paid   192,837 207,892

Gross change in the provision for claims 6 64,755 16,318

Reinsurers' share 6 (6,839) (9,788)

Net change in the provision for claims   57,916 6,530

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance   250,753 214,422

Net operating expenses 8 177,136 218,193

Total Technical Charges   427,889 432,615

Balance on the Technical Account for General Business   (69,196) 23,876
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Profit & Loss Account

NON-TECHNICAL ACCOUNT Note
2020

€'000
2019

€'000

Balance on the Technical Account for General Reinsurance Business   (69,196) 23,876

       

Investment income 5    

- income from investments 3,845 6,562

- gain on the realisation of investments   4,329 433

- loss on the realisation of investments   (3,830) (365)

       

Other charges and expenses      

- exchange gains   9,047 1,394

- interest on subordinated loan (3,750) (3,750)

- investment administration   (1,273) (1,296)

- impairment of Shares   (4,555) (2,482)

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities before tax   (65,383) 24,372

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 14 8,160 (3,039)

(Loss)/Profit on ordinary activities after tax   (57,223) 21,333

 All of the above amounts derive from continuing operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Balance Sheet

ASSETS Note
2020

€'000
2019

€'000

Investments      

Financial investments 15 1,072,768 1,047,566

Deposits with ceding undertakings   36,835 41,893

    1,109,603 1,089,459

       

Reinsurers' share of technical provisions      

Provision for unearned premium 7 21,861 26,027

Claims outstanding 6 67,190 64,359

    89,051 90,386

Debtors      

Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations 16 147,528 196,707

       

Tangible assets 17 56 67

       

Deferred Acquisition Costs   71,591 86,039

Other assets

Cash at bank and in hand   69,227 109,923

Other assets 18 9,394 1,693

    78,621 111,616

Accrued income      

Accrued interest and commission   5,927 8,462

Total assets   1,502,377 1,582,736
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Balance Sheet  

Liabilities & Shareholders’ Funds Note
2020

€'000
2019

€'000

Capital and reserves      

Called up share capital presented as equity  635  635

Capital contribution 279,054 279,054

Revaluation reserve 20,205 19,065

Profit and loss account 318,704 375,927

22 618,598 674,681

Subordinated Loan 24 75,000  75,000

Technical provisions      

Provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks  7 193,513 221,926

Claims outstanding  6 532,359 497,971

    725,872 719,897

Creditors  

Unearned Reinsurance Commission   4,275 6,198

Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 19 74,648 103,146

Other creditors including tax and social insurance 20 3,984 3,814

    82,907 113,158

 Total liabilities and shareholders’ funds   1,502,377 1,582,736

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Niamh Derivan 
Finance Director

Daniel Stausberg   
Managing Director

5 March, 2021

On behalf of the Board
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Statement Of Comprehensive Income

  Note 2020
€'000

2019
€'000

(Loss)/Profit for the financial year   (57,223) 21,333

Other comprehensive income      

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to the profit and loss account  

Net fair value gains on available-for-sale financial investments 1,303 21,739

Tax relating to items that may be reclassified (163) (2,717)

Other comprehensive income for the financial year, net of tax 22 1,140 19,022

Total (decrease)/increase in comprehensive income for the financial year  
attributable to the owners of the company  

(56,083) 40,355

Statement of Changes in Equity

  Share 
Capital 
€’000

Capital 
Contribution

€’000

Revaluation 
Reserve

€’000

Profit & Loss 
Account

€’000

Total 
€’000

As at 31 December 2019 635 279,054 43 354,594 634,326

Profit for the financial year -  -  - 21,333 21,333

Other comprehensive income -  - 19,022 - 19,022

As at 31 December 2019 635 279,054 19,065 375,927 674,681

(Loss) for the financial year -  - - (57,223) (57,223)

Other comprehensive income -  - 1,140 - 1,140

As at 31 December 2020 635 279,054 20,205 318,704 618,598
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Notes to the
Financial Statements

1 Accounting Policies

General information

Atradius Reinsurance DAC (“the Company”) is a Company incorporated in the Republic of Ireland authorised by the Central 
Bank of Ireland to carry out credit and bond reinsurance business. The company registration number is 276690. The registered 
office is 2nd Floor, La Touche House, International Financial Services Centre, Dublin D01 R5P3. The nature of the company’s 
operations and its principle activities are set out in the directors’ report on pages 4 to 7.

The principle accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all financial years presented unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis (see below) under the historical cost convention, mod-
ified to include certain items at fair value, and in accordance with accounting standards issued by the UK Financial Reporting 
Council (FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ and FRS 103 ‘Insurance 
Contracts’). The Company is also subject to the requirements of the Companies Acts 2014 and the European Union (Insurance 
Undertakings: Financial Statements) Regulations, 2015.

The Company’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and position 
are set out in the Business Review which forms part of the directors’ report.

These financial statements represent the results of the Company only. The Company is consolidated into the Group financial 
statements of its ultimate parent company, Grupo Catalana Occidente, S.A, incorporated in Spain.

Atradius Reinsurance DAC is a member of a group where the parent prepares publicly available consolidated financial state-
ments which are intended to give a true and fair view. For this reason the Company qualifies to avail of the exemption under 
FRS 102 section 1.12, from the obligation to prepare a Statement of Cash flows.

Going concern
The directors have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date on which the financial statements are approved (“the period of assessment”) and have prepared the financial 
statements on a going concern basis.

In making this assessment the directors considered the following:

• the Company’s capital position and the surplus over its required solvency capital ratio and minimum capital ratio reflect the 
fact that the Company will have sufficient Own Funds to meet its Solvency Requirements;

• forecasts, for the period of assessment, which are based on the Company’s historic performance and its business plan;
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• the outcome of the stress and sensitivity tests carried out by the Company for their ORSA process;

• the impact of Covid-19 on the Company’s business to date and the assessments of the potential future impact of Covid-19 
on the Company’s business including solvency position;

• the Company’s liquidity position;

• the Company’s level of reinsurance, and the credit rating of those reinsurers; and

• the Company’s credit rating and that of its ultimate parent.

On that basis, the directors consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. As such the 
directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for 
the foreseeable future.

Foreign currencies

The presentation currency of the Company is Euro. The financial statements of the Company are presented in the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which it operates (its functional currency). The financial statements are presented in 
thousands of Euro (€).

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Euro (functional currency) at the rates ruling at the dates 
of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated 
at the rates ruling at that date. These translation differences are dealt with in the profit and loss account.

Reinsurance Classification

The Company’s contracts are classified at inception, for accounting purposes, as reinsurance contracts. A contract that is clas-
sified as a reinsurance contract remains so such until all rights and obligations under the contract are extinguished or expire. 
Reinsurance contracts are contracts under which certain insurance risks of the primary insurer are agreed to be reinsured by 
the reinsurer in accordance with the contractual terms of the reinsurance contract.

Revenue Recognition

Premiums
Premiums written relate to business incepted during the financial year, together with any difference between booked premi-
ums for prior financial years and those previously accrued, and include estimates of premiums due but not yet receivable or 
notified to the company, less an allowance for cancellations.

Unearned premiums represent the proportion of premiums written in the financial year that relate to unexpired terms of 
policies in force at the balance sheet date, calculated on a time apportioned basis.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term receivables when the recognition 
would be immaterial.

Dividend income
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short term receivables when the recognition 
would be immaterial.
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Taxation

Current tax, including Irish corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided on the Company’s taxable profits, at amounts expected 
to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet 
date. The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax and is recognised in the profit and loss 
account except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised 
in other comprehensive income.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the financial year. Taxable profit differs from total comprehensive 
income as reported in the financial statements because it excludes items of income or expense that are deductible in other 
financial years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The Company’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of unutilised tax losses and all timing differences that have originated but not reversed 
at the balance sheet date. Provision is made at the rates expected to apply when the timing differences reverse. Timing dif-
ferences are differences between the Company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the financial statements that arise 
from the inclusion of gains and losses in taxable profits in periods different from those in which they are recognised in the 
financial statements. Deferred tax assets in respect of unutilised tax losses and in respect or timing differences are regarded 
as recoverable and therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely 
than not that there will be sufficient taxable profits from which the tax losses and future reversal of the underlying timing 
differences can be deducted.

Tangible fixed assets

Furniture and equipment are stated at the lower of historical cost less accumulated depreciation or the net realisable value. 
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their costs over the estimated useful lives (between 5 
and 10 years). The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if appropriate. 
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amounts. These are included in the profit 
and loss account.

Retirement benefit costs

The Company participates in a defined contribution pension scheme. The assets of the scheme are held separately from those 
of the company in independently administered funds.

Financial Assets and Liabilities

The Company’s financial assets comprise of available for sale non derivative debt and equity financial investments, cash and 
cash equivalents and receivables.

Recognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised only when the Company enters into the contractual provisions of the instrument 
i.e. at the time the Company has contractual rights or obligations. 

Initial and subsequent measurement

Available for sale financial investments
Financial investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisi-
tion. Realised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these investments are presented in the non-technical 
account in the period in which they arise. Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial invest-
ments classified as available-for-sale are recognised in other comprehensive income net of tax. When financial investments 



Page 25

Notes to the Financial Statements

classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjustments are included in the profit and loss 
account as net gains or losses on financial investments.

Receivables
Receivables (including deposits) are non-derivative financial investments with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted on an active market. Receivables arising from reinsurance contracts and deposits withheld by ceding companies are also 
classified in this category. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs and subsequently at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short term highly liquid investments that 
are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Fair Value of financial assets and liabilities

The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities equals their carrying value. The fair values correspond 
with the price, at our best estimate, that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transac-
tion between market participants at the measurement date. Whenever possible, the fair values are based on quoted market 
prices. If there is no quoted market price available, valuation techniques are used which are based where practicable on market 
prices of comparable instruments or parameters from comparable active markets (market observable data). For a detailed 
description of how the Company determines fair value, see Fair Value of Financial Assets and Liabilities under Financial Risk.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial investments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial investments have expired, 
or where the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. If the Company neither transfers 
nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a financial investment and does not retain control over the 
investment, it derecognises the financial investment. In transfers where control over the asset is retained, the Company con-
tinues to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. The extent of continuing involvement is determined 
by the extent to which the Company is exposed to changes in the value of the asset.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial investments

The Company, through it’s participation in the Group Investment Committee (GIC), makes an assessment at the end of each 
reporting period of whether there is objective evidence that any available-for-sale financial investments are impaired.

Available-for-sale financial investments will be considered impaired and impairment losses will be incurred only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that have occured after the initial recognition of these 
financial assets that have a negative impact on the estimated future cash flows of them and which can be reliably estimated.

Expenses

Net reinsurance claims
Claims charges include claims paid, the change in provision for outstanding claims, and the claims handling expenses. Claims 
ceded under cession contracts are recorded as reductions of gross paid claims.

Net operating expenses
Net operating expenses comprise administrative expenses and commissions. Total administrative expenses are expenses 
associated with selling and administrative activities (excluding commissions) after reallocation of claims handling expenses 
to insurance claims.
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Leases

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term, even if the payments are not made on 
such a basis. Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to sign an operating lease are similarly spread on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that the company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

The Company recognises a provision for annual leave accrued by employees as a result of services rendered in the current 
period, and which employees are entitled to carry forward and use within the next 12 months. The provision is measured as 
the salary cost payable for the period of absence.

Reinsurance contracts

Claims incurred
Claims incurred comprise claims and related expenses paid in the year and changes in the provision for outstanding  
claims incurred but not reported and related expenses, together with any other adjustments to claims in previous years. 
Where applicable, deductions are made for salvage and other recoveries.

Acquisition costs
Acquisition costs which represent commission and other related expenses are deferred over the period in which the related 
premiums are earned.

Provisions for outstanding claims
Outstanding claims comprise provisions for the estimated cost of settling all claims, incurred up to but not paid, at the balance 
sheet date whether reported or not, together with all related claims handling expenses. For group business these provisions, 
including claims incurred but not reported (IBNR claims) are based on latest available cedant advices. For third party business, 
outstanding claims are based on latest available cedant advices with provisions for IBNR claims being estimated by reference 
to loss ratio methodologies. Provisions are calculated gross of any reinsurance recoveries. A separate estimate is made of the 
amounts that will be recoverable from reinsurers based upon the gross provisions and having due regard to collectability.

Provisions for unearned premiums
The provision for unearned premiums represents that part of written premiums, gross of commission payable to intermediar-
ies, that is estimated to be earned in subsequent periods. The change in the provision is recorded in the profit and loss account 
to recognise revenue over the period of the risk.

Unexpired risks provision
An unexpired risks provision is established when the total of claims and expenses attributable to the unexpired periods of 
reinsurance contracts in force at the balance sheet date exceeds the unearned premium provision, net of acquisition costs, in 
relation to such contracts.

Liability adequacy
At the end of each reporting period, a liability adequacy test is performed to ensure the overall adequacy of the total reinsurance 
contract liabilities, net of related deferred acquisition costs. In performing this test, current best estimates of future contractual 
cash flows and claims handling expenses are used.



Page 27

Notes to the Financial Statements

Deferred acquisition costs

Deferred acquisition costs are expenses of the company that are incurred in connection with the acquisition of new insurance 
policies or the renewal of existing policies. Deferred acquisition costs are amortised over the life of the reinsurance contracts 
as the premium is earned. The amortisation is included in the operating expenses.

Reinsurance contracts (Outwards)

The Company enters into reinsurance contracts in the normal course of business in order to limit its potential for losses arising 
from certain exposures. Outwards reinsurance premiums are accounted for in the same period as the related premiums for 
the inwards reinsurance business being reinsured.

Reinsurance liabilities comprise premiums payable for outwards reinsurance contracts and are recognised as an expense 
when due.

Reinsurance assets include balances due from reinsurance companies for paid and unpaid losses. Reinsurance assets are 
measured consistently with the amounts associated with the underlying insurance contract and in accordance with the terms 
of the reinsurance contract. Reinsurance is recorded as an asset unless a right of set-off exists, in which case the associated 
liabilities are reduced to take account of reinsurance.

Reinsurance assets are subject to impairment testing and the carrying amount is reduced to its recoverable amount. The 
impairment loss is recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account. The asset is impaired if objective evidence is 
available to suggest that it is probable that the Company will not be able to collect the amounts due from reinsurers. Gains or 
losses on buying reinsurance are recognised in income at the date of purchase and are not amortised.

Subordinated Loan

The subordinated loan is recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. The subordinated loan is subse-
quently stated at amortised cost. The difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
recognised in the profit and loss account over the fixed period of the debt during which the interest is fixed using the effective 
interest method. Interest payable is reported under other liabilities.

2  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in  
applying accounting policies

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported assets and liabilities. Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated. They are based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The most significant areas for which management is required to make 
judgements and estimates that affect reported amounts and disclosures are detailed below.

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year, are discussed below.
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Valuations of liabilities of reinsurance contracts

The ultimate liability arising from claims made under reinsurance contracts
The estimate of the ultimate liability arising from claims including recoveries made, or to be made, under reinsurance con-
tracts is the Company’s most critical accounting estimate. Although management has endeavoured to ensure all factors are 
taken into account, by their very nature estimates remain uncertain, and the eventual outcome may differ significantly from 
the projected amount.

For third party business, premium estimates and reserves are set on a reinsurance contract to contract basis by the Company 
actuary in consultation with the reinsurance underwriter. The underwriters estimate the premium income, ultimate loss ratios 
and ultimate commission and brokerage costs. These values are then applied to an actuarial risk earnings model incorporating 
standard actuarial statistical techniques to evaluate the appropriate earned income, reserves setting and costs basis for each 
reinsurance contract. The performance of each reinsurance contract is regularly reviewed for past underwriting years perfor-
mance and development and triangulation development to ensure reserves for that reinsurance contract are maintained or 
adjusted as appropriate.

For the 2020 financial year, given the uncertainties associated with Covid-19, the reserves have been reviewed in detail and 
increased where appropriate for underwriting years 2019 and 2020. Management have also assessed whether, for reinsurance 
contracts in force at the reporting date, there arises an excess of estimated claims and expenses after the reporting date over 
unearned premiums, net of acquisition costs, which would require an additional unexpired risk reserve (AURR). Following this 
assessment, management have concluded an AURR of €3.8m (2019: Nil), for underwriting year 2020, should also be provided 
(see Note 7).

For group business, being business assumed by the Company from the Atradius Group, estimates are made by the latter for 
future claims payments through a combination of case-by-case estimates and statistical estimates. Provisions for reported 
claims are set on a case-by-case basis, taking into account statistical estimates for expected recoveries and statistical esti-
mates of claims incurred to payment ratios. The estimates for future claims payments are produced per period during which 
policyholders brought risk under the cover of the policy (i.e. the period in which the insured shipment has taken place). Large 
cases are provisioned separately, at expected loss.

During the second half of 2020, the number of reported claims received by the Atradius Group dropped significantly compared 
to the first half of the year. This partly relates to a drop of insured business as result of the lock-downs in early 2020 and partly 
because of government stimulus measures. Provisions have been set based on the assumption that this drop is temporary.

Reserves are also reviewed on a global basis by splitting the portfolio into homogenous parts and applying standard actuarial 
triangulation techniques to review the overall reserve estimates for both group and third party business for adequacy. The 
Company’s policy is to hold reserves on a global basis that represent a margin for uncertainty, or prudence margin, above the 
best estimate, that is based on historical experience and expectations of future events that are considered reasonable.

Measurement of fair value

The Company measures some of its financial instruments at fair value for financial reporting purposes. The fair value of finan-
cial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Company uses its 
judgement to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the 
end of each reporting period. Where Level 1 inputs are not available, an external independent valuation company is engaged on 
the Company’s behalf by the Atradius Group to perform the valuation. Atradius works together with the external independent 
valuation company to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

Information about the valuation techniques and inputs used in determining the fair value of various instruments are disclosed 
in Note 3 (p.27) and Note 24.
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Impairment of available-for-sale equity financial investments

The Company, through its participation on the Atradius Group Investment committee, determines that an available-for-sale 
equity financial investment is impaired when there has been a significant (40% of decrease) or prolonged (18 consecutive 
months) decline in the fair value below its cost. This determination of what is significant or prolonged requires judgement. In 
making this judgement, several factors are evaluated including the normal volatility in share price, the financial health of the 
investment, industry and sector performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cash flows. Impairment 
may be appropriate when there is evidence of deterioration in the financial health of the investment, industry and sector per-
formance, changes in technology, and financing and operational cash flows.

3 Risk & Capital Management

Risk management

As a global reinsurance provider, the Company recognises the importance of risk management. The Company has introduced 
a strong governance and associated internal control system within the organisation. As part of the Atradius Group and based 
on additional regulatory requirements, the Company continues to strengthen its risk management capabilities by broadening 
risk management scope and enhancing the existing risk management tools.

The relationship between risk and capital is fundamental. Understanding how risk-taking consumes capital allows manage-
ment to steer the Company and take strategic decisions based on risk. These decisions are increasingly being driven by the 
outcome of the economic capital model. In addition, risk management and the relationship between risk and capital play a 
central role in the regulatory regime, Solvency II, that is in force since 1 January, 2016.

The risk management and internal control framework
The risks to which Atradius Re is exposed could materially affect our business, the results of our operations and our financial 
condition. Our risk management and internal control framework has been developed to identify, assess and manage these 
risks, and thus to mitigate the possible negative impact on operations and financial results.

Risk Classification
The Company has classified its risks as insurance, financial and operational. Insurance risks are the risks of financial loss as 
a direct result of providing reinsurance. Financial risks are the risks associated with the balance sheet positions and include 
market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. Operational risks are the risks of direct or indirect losses resulting from inadequate 
or failed internal processes, people, systems or external events.

Insurance risk

The Company accepts insurance risk through its insurance contracts where it assumes the risk of loss from organisations 
that are directly subject to underlying loss. The Company is exposed to the uncertainty surrounding the timing, frequency and 
severity of claims under these contracts.

Insurance risk is directly related to the nature of our business. Through credit reinsurance, we reinsure customers against the 
risk of non-payment of trade receivables. Through bonding reinsurance, we guarantee a beneficiary that our customers will 
meet contractual, legal or tax obligations.
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Reinsurance underwriting guidelines define the types of business Atradius Re is authorised to write, with specific guidelines 
to type of product, capacity limit, types of exposure, term, and diversity of the underlying insurance ceded. There is particular 
attention given to ensure the diversity of the business from third party clients and that exposure to any one country, company, 
or market is managed within agreed underwriting limits and capacity.

Reinsurance products, their sensitivity to insurance risk, mitigations and controls
The primary insurer writes traditional credit and/or bonding insurance and reports to Atradius Re the aggregate total poten-
tial exposure, including the list of insurance buyers over certain limits per the reinsurance agreement conditions. These are 
reviewed regularly to monitor insurance performance and buyer stability. The underwriters estimate the premium income, 
ultimate loss ratio and ultimate commission and brokerage costs. These values are then applied to an actuarial risk earnings 
model to evaluate the appropriate earned income, reserves setting, and costs basis for each reinsurance contract. The rein-
surance contract performance and Total Potential Exposure (TPE) values are reviewed within the control limits set by the 
underwriting guidelines, economic capital requirements and regulatory solvency requirements. Any business that exceeds the 
standard control limits requires specific committee review and approval, prior to commitment.

All reinsurance business assumed is reviewed regularly in detail for past underwriting years performance, triangulation devel-
opment, individual buyer exposure development and aggregate total potential exposure management, market and country 
exposure. Risk and policy limit setting is monitored to ensure credit quality and performance of the underlying insurance 
products to reinsurance terms agreed with the client. Reserves supporting the underlying business are based on standard 
actuarial statistical models and an independent actuarial review of reserves is carried out, providing an independent best 
estimate comparison to the Company’s reserves to support the business.

Insurance risk management tools
Atradius Re transfers a portion of its insurance risk to external reinsurers/retrocessionaires, through a number of reinsurance 
arrangements that include quota share and excess of loss treaties. The reinsurance treaties are reviewed annually and it is 
the Company’s policy to select only reinsurers that have a high quality standard of solvency/rating. The normal minimum 
requirement is an ‘A’ level rating.

Concentration risk

Total Potential Exposure (“TPE”)
The Company is exposed to concentration risk in a number of ways: by ceding company, by country/region or by market. The 
tables below illustrate the exposures at the end of 2020 and 2019 in terms of the sum of credit limits issued by our clients to 
their policyholders. This is referred to as total potential exposure, or TPE.

TPE is an approximate upper boundary to real exposure, in the sense that limits issued by our clients to their policyholders do 
not necessarily give rise to a credit risk at a specific point in time. The real outstanding exposure under limits to a policyholder 
is not known in credit insurance. The ‘usage’ of limits is, on average, much smaller than the amount of the limit.

Exposures must be managed in order to monitor accumulations of risks across cedents and assess the potential risk of claims 
occurring from the failure of individual companies (or a group of related companies). The Total Potential Exposure is composed 
of named risk (i.e. buyers that are clearly identified) and unnamed risk. Accumulation is monitored on the named risks as these 
are a cedants largest risks.

For Credit reinsurance, the amount monitored is the maximum accumulation of credit limits issued by the ceding company to 
their policyholders on any one buyer, or group depending on the treaty risk definition. For Bonding, the amount used is the 
maximum accumulation of bonds issued by the ceding company to any one client.

By nature the portfolio diversification is high with a well-diversified geographical spread. As can be seen from the tables below, 
our principal concentrations are in Europe, due mainly to Group business that we assume from Atradius Crédito y Caución S.A. 
de Seguros y Reaseguros (“ACyC”), and also third party business. Our exposures in Asia and South America are mainly attrib-
utable to our third party business, which is outside the risk assumed from the primary markets of ACyC, thus contributing pos-
itively to our diversification profile. Within all of these regions, a well-diversified spread by country and cedant is maintained.
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  TPE 2020 
€’000

%
TPE 2019  

€’000
%

Europe 109,548,606 65.92% 118,663,238 65.73%

Asia 26,394,670 15.88% 28,119,286 15.57%

North America 18,564,598 11.17% 20,825,854 11.54%

South America 5,915,302 3.56% 6,185,980 3.43%

Oceania 3,215,542 1.94% 3,619,001 2.00%

Africa 2,537,263 1.53% 3,129,655 1.73%

Total 166,175,981 100.00% 180,543,014 100.00%

Factors affecting the frequency and severity of claims
The frequency and severity of claims are affected by several factors. These include all factors that affect credit risk in general. 
Thus the status of the economy is a major driver of the frequency and severity of claims. Its effect may vary by country and 
sector. For trade credit risk, the behaviour of customers may also affect the frequency and severity of claims, for instance 
through risks inherent to their business activities and their risk management practices. Specific events (e.g. natural disasters) 
or structural changes in the economy (e.g. easier access to developed markets for producers in low cost countries), may impact 
the frequency and severity of claims. What specific events or structural changes are relevant in this respect will vary over time. 

The bonding business usually only incurs irrecoverable losses when, after a bond call, any payments to beneficiaries cannot 
be reclaimed from the bonding customer, or its guarantors. This is almost always due to either the insolvency or bankruptcy 
of the bonding customer. Thus, in the end, the frequency and severity of claims is affected by similar factors to those affecting 
credit reinsurance.

All forms of credit reinsurance and bonding bear the risk that changes in legislation, in particular of insolvency law, may affect 
the amount and timing of claims payments or recoveries.

Sources and Assumptions

Sources of uncertainty in the estimation of future claims payments
The insurance liabilities that cover claims experience after the reporting period for risks that have been accepted before the 
end of the reporting period consist of two elements: the provision for unearned premium (UPR) and the claims provisions for 
claims ‘incurred but not reported’, the IBNR. UPR relates to the unearned part of premium invoiced in advance and to risks 
that have not yet started. IBNR is the Company’s estimate for future claims payments that will result from risks taken on, but 
for which no claims notification has been received.

Assumptions, change in assumptions and sensitivity
The risks associated with credit reinsurance and bonding are complex, as will be clear from the above and are subject to a 
number of influences that are not particularly open to quantitative sensitivity analysis. In the current year these risks also 
include all those associated with Covid-19. However, this section describes the quantitative sensitivity analysis that is feasible.

Set out below are results of sensitivity testing on the claims ratios, showing the impact on results before tax & shareholders’ 
equity gross, net of reinsurance and by line of business. This sensitivity analysis is the result of a change in a single factor, with 
other assumptions unchanged.
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2020

Pre-tax result Shareholders’ equity

Credit 
€'000

Bonding 
€'000

Total 
€'000

Credit 
€'000

Bonding 
€'000

Total 
€'000

5% increase in loss ratios            

Gross (12,723) (1,851) (14,574) (11,132) (1,620) (12,752)

Net (10,711) (1,826) (12,537) (9,372) (1,598) (10,970)

5% decrease in loss ratios            

Gross 12,723 1,851 14,574 11,132 1,620 12,752

Net 10,711 1,826 12,537 9,372 1,598 10,970

2019

Pre-tax profit  Shareholders’ equity

Credit 
€'000

Bonding 
€'000

Total 
€'000

Credit 
€'000

Bonding 
€'000

Total 
€'000

5% increase in loss ratios            

Gross (10,152) (1,888) (12,040) (8,883) (1,652) (10,535)

Net (8,815) (1,906) (10,721) (7,713) (1,668) (9,381)

5% decrease in loss ratios            

Gross 10,152 1,888 12,040 8,883 1,652 10,535

Net 8,815 1,906 10,721 7,713 1,668 9,381
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The Company’s method for sensitivity testing has not changed significantly from the prior financial year.

Claims development tables
The Claims development tables provide an overview of how the Company’s recognised claims costs for underwriting years 
2013-2020 have changed at successive financial year ends. This overview also provides a breakdown of the claims provisions 
that are held against each underwriting year as at 31 December 2020. Underwriting year here means the treaty year.

Claims – Gross

Claims development per underwriting year – (EUR million)

Year when risk  
was taken

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total

Estimate of gross 
claims incurred:

                 

at the end of the year 
when risk was taken

181,956 204,319 223,079 204,288 206,149 221,130 238,473 211,260

one year later  174,348 257,978  258,836  203,554  220,658  245,764 278,435

two years later  182,935 288,825  255,983  211,702  216,260 246,739

three years later  186,931 288,276  254,164  210,036 217,607

four years later  188,401  284,849  251,756 208,479

five years later  186,620  279,556 252,117

six years later  184,119 276,966

seven years later 184,922

Current estimate of 
cumulative claims

184,922 276,966 252,117 208,479 217,607 246,739 278,435 211,260 1,876,525

Cumulative 
payments to date

168,424 245,121 226,366 192,458 187,599 199,846 184,261 31,338 1,435,413

Claims provision 
at 31 Dec 2020 
in respect of 
2013-2020

16,498 31,845 25,751 16,021 30,008 46,893 94,174 179,922 441,112

In respect of prior 
years (before 2013)

                91,247

Total 532,359
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Claims – Ceded

Claims development per underwriting year – (EUR million)

Year when risk was 
taken

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Total

Estimate of gross 
claims incurred:

at the end of the year 
when risk was taken

 6,558  9,875  25,447 16,418  15,860  13,018 21,341 22,292

one year later  9,196  23,843  34,812  20,015  23,214  22,904 32,607

two years later  14,811  36,107  37,031  21,642  25,554 25,243

three years later  15,665  35,306  36,511  20,515 24,860

four years later  16,329  35,080  31,824 19,814

five years later  16,249  35,273 31,399

six years later  15,667 34,662

seven years later 15,177

Current estimate of 
cumulative claims

15,177 34,662 31,399 19,814 24,860 25,243 32,607 22,292 206,054

Cumulative payments 
to date

10,090 30,966 29,438 17,177 21,951 20,065 20,405 1,900 151,992

Claims provision at 31 
Dec 2020 in respect of 
2013-2020

5,087 3,696 1,961 2,637 2,909 5,178 12,202 20,392 54,062

In respect of prior 
years (before 2013)

13,128

Total 67,190
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Financial risk 

Atradius Re is exposed to financial risk mainly through its financial assets, financial liabilities and reinsurance contracts. The 
Company monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Company through internal risk reports 
which analyse exposures by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk 
and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 
The estimated fair values of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities equal their carrying value. The fair values corre-
spond with the price, at our best estimate, that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Whenever possible, the fair values are based on quoted 
market prices. If there is no quoted market price available, we use valuation techniques which are based on market prices of 
comparable instruments or parameters from comparable active markets (market observable data). If no observable market 
inputs are available, valuation models are used (non-market observable data). These valuation techniques are subjective in 
nature and involve various assumptions about the relevant pricing factors. Changes in these assumptions could significantly 
affect the estimated fair values. Consequently, the fair values presented may not be indicative of the net realisable value. In 
addition, the calculation of the estimated fair value is based on market conditions at a specific point in time and may not be 
indicative of future fair values.

The fair values are subject to a control framework designed to ensure that they are either determined or validated by a function 
independent of the risk taker. To this end, the Company establishes the accounting policies and processes governing valua-
tion and is responsible for ensuring that these comply with all relevant accounting pronouncements. Within this governance 
structure, non-quoted investments in which the Company invests are valued by an external independent valuation company.

The Company has minimal exposure to financial assets or liabilities which are valued at other than quoted prices in an  
active market.

Debt and equity securities available-for-sale
The fair value of debt and equity securities available-for-sale is based on quoted market prices, where available. For those 
securities not actively traded, fair values are provided by an external independent valuation company.

Other financial assets
The carrying amount of other financial assets, including cash and cash equivalents, is not materially different to their fair 
value, given their short-term nature.

Other financial liabilities and deposits received from reinsurers
The carrying amount of other financial liabilities and deposits received from reinsurers is not materially different to their fair 
value, given their short-term nature.

The following tables present the fair values of the financial instruments carried at fair value.
 

2020 Level 1
€’000

Level 2
€’000

Level 3
€’000

Total
€’000

Available-for-sale:       

Equity securities 88,089 - - 88,089

Debt securities:

Government Bonds 308,239 - - 308,239

Corporate Bonds   675,679 - -   675,679

Short term investments      761 - - 761

Total 1,072,768 - - 1,072,768 
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2019 Level 1
€’000

Level 2
€’000

Level 3
€’000

Total
€’000

Available-for-sale:       

Equity securities 94,908 - - 94,908

Debt securities:    

Government Bonds 321,123 -  -  321,123

Corporate Bonds  630,907 -  -   630,907

Short term investments  628 - - 628

Total 1,047,566 - - 1,047,566

Level 1 - Quoted prices in active markets 
This category includes financial instruments whose fair value is determined directly by reference to published quotes in an active 
market. A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available 
from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices represent actual and 
regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis;.

Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable market data 
This category includes financial instruments whose fair value is determined using a valuation technique (a valuation model), 
where inputs in the valuation model are taken from an active market or are market observable. If certain inputs in the model 
are not market observable, but all significant inputs are, the instrument is still classified in this category, provided that the 
impact of those elements on the overall valuation is insignificant. Included in this category are items whose value is derived 
from quoted prices of similar instruments, but for which the prices are (more than insignificantly) modified based on other 
market observable external data;

Level 3 - Valuation techniques incorporating information other than observable market data 
This category includes financial investments whose fair value is determined using a valuation technique for which a signifi-
cant level of the input is not supported by a current observable market transaction. This category also includes the financial 
investments for which the fair value is based on brokers quotes or pricing services. These valuations are for 100% of the fair 
value verified with an external independent valuation company.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk of adverse financial impact as a consequence of market movements such as currency exchange rates, 
interest rates and other price changes. Market risk arises due to fluctuations in both the value of assets held and the value of 
liabilities. The objective of the Company in managing its market risk is to ensure risk is managed in line with the Company’s 
risk appetite. The Company has established policies and procedures in order to manage market risk and methods to measure 
it. Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk, and equity price risk.

There were no changes in the Company’s market risk exposure in the financial year nor to the objectives, policies and processes 
for managing market risk.

(i) Equity price risk 
Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of the assets that are sensitive to movements in equity prices decreases due to 
adverse movements in equity prices. The Company is exposed to equity price risk by its investments in equity instruments, 
either issued by corporations or by investment funds. These risks are measured and analysed by using value at risk techniques 
and capital models from the external credit assessment institutions. The value at risk measures the potential maximum loss 
on the Company’s equity instruments due to adverse movements in equity prices in the short term, while the capital models 
measure the potential maximum loss in the long-term. The Company maintains a well-diversified portfolio of equity instru-
ments to manage these risks.

Investment Funds
The investment funds in which the Company invests are exposed to the general investment fund risks of market risk, coun-
terparty risk, liquidity risk and currency risk. The risks of an investment fund are driven by the nature of the assets in which 
the fund invests. The Company only invests in investment funds, the investment restrictions of which in their prospectus are 
consistent with the Atradius Group Investment Policy. 
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Equity instruments issued by Investment funds
The portfolio of equity and money market instruments issued by investment funds are as follows:

  2020 
€’000

Weight 
in %

2019 
€’000

Weight 
in %

Passive equities exchange traded funds 11,622 46% 14,179 50%

Active money market fund 13,426 54% 14,160 50%

Total 25,048 100% 28,339 100%

Passive equities exchange traded funds
The passive equities exchange traded fund is an exchange traded fund that passively tracks the Dow Jones Euro Stoxx 50 Index.

Active Money Market Fund
The active money market fund invests in money market instruments that are denominated in British Pounds. The fund aims 
to maintain a weighted average maturity of a maximum 90 days.

(ii) Foreign currency risk management
Due to the global nature of its reinsurance business, the Company incurs foreign exchange risk due to exchange rate fluctua-
tions. This risk is managed by hedging, on a monthly basis, of its foreign currency exposures when natural hedges between the 
Companys financial assets and financial liabilities, which are primarily reinsurance liabilities, are not already present.

The Company’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk, arising from financial assets and liabilities denominated in 
non-functional both major and less traded currencies as at 31 December 2020, is presented in the following table: 

 
 
 

Financial 
Assets 

2020
€’000

Financial 
Liabilities

2020
€’000

Position
2020

€’000

Financial 
Assets 

2019
€’000

Financial 
Liabilities

2019
€’000

Position
2019

€’000

EUR 1,150,372 498,350 652,022 1,222,632 517,947 704,685

GBP 17,499 6,971 10,528 23,107 18,531 4,576

USD 225,257 198,499 26,758 204,615 183,478 21,137

AUD 7,167 7,278 (111) 8,780 8,782 (2)

Other 102,082 172,681 (70,599) 123,602 179,317 (55,715)

Total 1,502,377 883,779 618,598 1,582,736 908,055 674,681
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The following table details the Company’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the GBP and USD against the Euro. 
A 10% sensitivity rate is used as a reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. For each sensitivity the impact of a 
change in a single factor is shown, with other assumptions unchanged.

2020
GBP

€'000
USD

€'000

10% increase    

Pre-tax profit 1,053 2,676

Shareholders’ equity 921 2,341

10% decrease    

Pre-tax loss (1,053) (2,676)

Shareholders’ equity (921) (2,341)

     

2019
GBP

€'000
USD

€'000

10% increase    

Pre-tax profit 458 2,114

Shareholders’ equity 400 1,850

10% decrease    

Pre-tax loss (458) (2,114)

Shareholders’ equity (400) (1,850)

(iii) Interest rate risk management 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of assets and liabilities, that are sensitive to movements in interest rates, 
decreases or increases due to adverse movements in interest rates. The Company is exposed to this risk by investing in debt 
instruments and equity instruments issued by investment funds that invest in debt instruments.

The Company manages this risk by monitoring the duration of its debt instruments. Duration demonstrates the dependability 
of a bond’s market value to a change in the underlying discount rate of that bond. The duration figure depicts the percentage 
change of the market value of a bond investment if the underlying discount rate is parallel shifted by 1%. The higher the dura-
tion figure, the more a bond is sensitive to movements in the underlying discount rate.

The Company uses the duration to assess its interest rate exposure and monitors whether the duration remains between the 
minimum and maximum duration limit (between one to five years for government bonds and one to three years for corporate 
bonds), as established by the Atradius Group Investment Policy. As the duration can be described as the percentage change of 
the bond’s value when the underlying discount rate is parallel shifted by 1%, so the average maturity is the weighted average 
of the time until a bond has paid its final interest and principal redemption. The duration for 2020 is 2.1 years (2019: 1.9 Years), 
representing the years it will take for the price of the Company’s debt instruments to be repaid by its internal cash flows. The 
average maturity for 2020 is also 2.1 years (2019: 1.9 years).

Value-at-Risk
The Company measures equity price and interest rate risk by analysing the Value-at-Risk (VaR) of its financial instruments. This 
risk metric measures the potential maximum loss on those financial instruments due to adverse movements in equity prices and 
interest rates within a specified timeframe and probability (confidence level). The VaR is based on variance-covariance method-
ology that uses the historical volatility of the fair values of the financial instruments and the correlation between them as main 
inputs. These volatilities and correlations are provided by financial information providers or financial institutions.
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The risk of using variance-covariance methodology or any other historical methodology is that it may underestimate the riskiness 
of the financial instruments. This is because these methodologies assume that the historical volatility of and correlation between 
the financial instruments will be repeated in the future. Therefore, it is not intended to represent or guarantee any future price 
movements but rather is to be used as guidance for information purposes and comparison for historical developments only.

The VaR provides insight into the maximum expected loss per asset category and on portfolio level. The fair values and percent-
ages presented are calculated with a confidence level of 99% for a period of 12 months. This implies that there is a 1% probability 
of underestimating the potential maximum loss for the coming 12 months.

The following table shows the VaR of the Company’s equity and debt securities:

  2020
€millions

% of the  
market value

2019
€millions

% of the  
market value

Equity securities:     

Shares (Including equity funds) 56.7 76.00% 27.3 33.80%

Debt securities:

Government bonds (including  
government bonds funds)

7.5 2.40% 5.4 1.70%

Corporate Bonds (including corporate 
bond funds) 

29.8 4.40% 10.1 1.60%

Total portfolio 74.0 6.80% 33.7 3.20%

The VaR of the individual portfolio components is based on the volatility of the investments to which they are ultimately 
exposed. The volatility of each asset class as a whole serves as input for the VaR calculation of that asset class. In the case of 
an investment fund, the volatility of the fund (driven by the characteristics of its underlying securities) serves as input for the 
calculation of the VaR of that specific investment fund and is subsequently included in the VaR of the asset class. Total portfolio 
VaR may not be equal to the sum of the VaR of the individual portfolio components because the correlation between these 
components may be less than one. The VaR percentage increased from 3.2% at the end of 2019 to 6.8% at the end of 2020 
and the VaR value increased from EUR 33.7m at the end of 2019 to EUR 74.0 m at the end of 2020. The increase in the VaR 
percentage and the VaR value is principally driven by the volatility of equities during 2020. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that counterparties will not meet their contractual obligations to the Company. The key area in which the 
Company is exposed to credit risk is the possibility that a reinsurer fails to pay a claim.

If a reinsurer fails to pay a claim for any reason, the Company remains liable for the payment to the policyholder. The Company’s 
policy is to select only reinsurers that have a well-established investment grade credit rating. The normal minimum require-
ment is an ‘A’ level rating, although there are some minor exceptions. In the event that the reinsurer’s rating is found to be below 
this threshold, the Company has the right to either terminate the reinsurance relationship during the course of the reinsurance 
year, or else seek collateral if the relationship is to continue. 

With regard to managing the credit risks of the financial investments, the investment policy of the Company is to hold a princi-
pally Euro-centric, internationally diversified portfolio and to avoid large risk concentrations. From a Standard & Poor’s rating 
scale or comparable perspective, the overall fixed income portfolio is almost completely invested in investment grade debt 
securities which are rated ‘A-‘ or higher. If a corporate bond in which the Company has indirectly invested (through an invest-
ment fund) falls below the minimum credit rating or is not rated, it is reviewed by the Group Investment Committee to decide 
whether the investment fund is still a suitable investment. The maximum concentration limit per issuer is 5% of the market 
value of the financial investments of the Company. The Group Investment Committee on which the Company sits monitors this 
limit and action is taken if a concentration limit is breached. The counterparty ratings of reinsurance assets, debt and equity 
securities and short-term investments as at 31 December 2020 are presented in the following table:
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At 31 December 2020
€’000

AAA AA A BBB
Other and 

Non-Rated
Total

Reinsurance Assets       

Reinsurers share of  
technical provisions

1,155 26,857 58,698 172 2,169 89,051

Debt securities:

Government bonds 137,920 156,079 7,114 7,126 - 308,239

Corporate bonds 11,868 65,797 345,954 252,060 - 675,679

Equity shares - 7,278 46,169 29,587 5,055 88,089

Short-term investments:

Deposits withheld by  
ceding companies

2 3,703 23,428 3,445 6,257 36,835

Short term deposits - 761 - - - 761

Cash & Cash equivalents - - 69,227 - - 69,227

Total 150,945 260,475 550,590 292,390 13,481 1,267,881

At 31 December 2019
€’000

AAA AA A BBB
Other and 

Non-Rated
Total

Reinsurance Assets       

Reinsurers share of  
technical provisions

- 16,773 70,909 - 2,704 90,386

Debt securities:

Government bonds 146,288 158,407 16,428 - - 321,123

Corporate bonds 7,297 65,627 371,446 186,537 - 630,907

Equity shares - 22,299 46,881 19,053 6,675 94,908

Short-term investments:

Deposits withheld by  
ceding companies

- 6,181 30,391 810 4,511 41,893

Short term deposits - 628 - - - 628

Cash & Cash equivalents - - 109,923 - - 109,923

Total 153,585 269,915 645,978 206,400 13,890 1,289,768
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The following class of financial assets includes the carrying value of financial assets that are past due but not impaired. All 
other classes of financial assets do not include any carrying values that are past due.

2020

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
€'000

Past due 3-6 
months 

€'000

Past due 6-12 
months

€'000

Past due 12 
months +

€'000

Past due and 
impaired 

€'000

Carrying 
amount 

€'000

Debtors arising out of 
reinsurance operations

145,537 1,630 49 312 - 147,528

2019
 

Neither past 
due nor 

impaired 
€'000

Past due 3-6 
months 

€'000

Past due 6-12 
months

€'000

Past due 12 
months +

€'000

Past due and 
impaired 

€'000

Carrying 
amount 

€'000

Debtors arising out of 
reinsurance operations

194,011 2,380 316 - - 196,707

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that Atradius Reinsurance DAC would be unable to meet its payment obligations when due. Liquidity 
risks originate from short term fluctuations in cash flow patterns either on incoming or outgoing cash. It is the Company’s 
policy to maintain sufficient cash and marketable securities to manage its liquidity risks. The Atradius Group Investment policy 
states that investments should only be in financial instruments that can be liquidated in less than 4 business days. In practice, 
most of the Company’s assets are marketable securities which can be readily converted into cash when required. The Company 
is liquid with cash reserves of EUR 69 million (2019: EUR 110 million).

The Company’s liquidity risk exposure and policy in respect of liquidity risk management has remained unchanged.

The following tables are an estimate of the amount and timing of the undiscounted main cash flows at the end of the reporting 
period and include both principal and interest cash flows.

As at 31 December 2020
€’000

Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 

Other Creditors 9,303 5,891 85 15,279

Subordinated Loan - - 75,000 75,000

Insurance Contracts 463,902 261,970 - 725,872

Payables 63,353 - - 63,353

 Total 536,558 267861 75,085 879,504

As at 31 December 2020 
€’000

 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 

Debt securities 256,794 726,117 1,008 983,919

Short term investments 761 - - 761

Other Financial investments 124,924 - - 124,924

Cash and bank deposits 69,227 - - 69,227

Receivables 147,216 312 - 147,528

Reinsurance Contracts 79,809 9,242 - 89,051

Total 678,731 735,671 1,008 1,415,410
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As at 31 December 2019
€’000

Less than 1 year  1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 

Other Creditors 16,689 5,690 59 22,438
Subordinated Loan - - 75,000 75,000
Insurance Contracts 454,766 265,131 - 719,897
Payables 84,522 - - 84,522

 Total 555,977 270,821 75,059 901,857

As at 31 December 2019  
€’000

 Less than 1 year 1 to 5 years More than 5 years Total 

Debt securities 220,710 725,990 5,330 952,030

Short term investments 628 - - 628

Other Financial investments 136,801 - - 136,801

Cash and bank deposits 109,923 - - 109,923

Receivables 196,707 - - 196,707

Reinsurance Contracts 79,547 10,839 - 90,386

Total 744,316 736,829 5,330 1,486,475

Operational risk

Operational risks are the risks of direct or indirect loss from inadequate or failed internal processes, human and system errors 
or external events. We use this definition in line with industry practice as well as the European Union Solvency II Framework 
Directive. Within the Atradius Group, the Operational Risk Management (ORM) unit is responsible for developing methods for 
the identification, assessment and response to risks, and for monitoring and further enhancing the overall risk management 
and control framework. The ORM unit works closely with both Internal audit and Legal and Compliance. Operational risk 
management activities such as financial reporting controls, business continuity management and reporting to management 
all ensure that operational risks within the organisation are identified, and maintained within risk policy guidelines.

Compliance
Our compliance practices support our business, our reputation and our integrity. These elements are of importance to our 
customers, suppliers, staff and other stakeholders. Complying with relevant laws, rules and regulations and maintaining a high 
standard in terms of ethics and integrity, leads to lower operational risk and more stable business processes. The Atradius code 
of conduct outlines the basic corporate, legal and ethical compliance principles and guidelines that apply to all employees and 
that govern operations and its employees’ business conduct and actions. The individual compliance codes address specific 
compliance areas in more detail and set out detailed compliance requirements that must be met across the Company and which 
must be included in existing business procedures. For the monitoring and testing of effectiveness of these requirements, close 
alignment is sought with the activities of the Operational Risk Management and Internal Audit Units. 

The Company is subject to the Corporate Governance Requirements for Insurance Undertakings 2015, but does not fall in scope 
of the additional requirements for major institutions. Atradius Reinsurance DAC has established a separate Audit Committee 
and Risk Committee as required under the 2015 Corporate Governance Code.
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Capital management 

Objectives, policies and processes with regard to capital
The objective of the Company in managing its capital is to ensure that it is sufficiently capitalised to be able to continue as a 
going concern after meeting all its financial obligations and to meet its externally imposed regulatory capital requirements, 
while maximising the return to its shareholders. 

In order to ensure capital adequacy, a capital buffer above the regulatory solvency capital required is maintained, such that 
large loss events would not impair the ability of the Company to carry on its normal course of business. The regulatory capital 
structure of the Company consists of shareholders’ funds, comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings as dis-
closed in note 22 plus the subordinated loan as disclosed in note 24.  

As an authorised reinsurer regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland, the Company is subject to regulatory capital requirements, 
which for the year ended 31st December 2020 are based on the EU Directive requirements in respect of Solvency II, which 
became effective from 1 January 2016.  

Solvency II
Solvency II applies to all EU (re)insurance companies and establishes a new set of capital requirements, risk management and 
disclosure standards. The capital requirements can be calculated by reference to a standard formula as defined in the Solvency II 
regulations, or by an internal model that most accurately reflects a company’s risk profile. Together with the Atradius Group, the 
Company has developed an internal model to calculate its capital requirements in respect of insurance risk, since the results of 
this model most accurately reflect its unique business and risk profile. Regulatory approval for this internal model was received 
in 2017. Accordingly, the partial internal model is used to calculate (re) insurance, or underwriting, risk, and the standard formula 
for calculating all other risks. The Company was in compliance with its regulatory capital requirements throughout the year.  

4 Segmental information

Analysis of gross premiums written, gross premiums earned, gross claims incurred, gross operating expenses and outwards 
reinsurance by class of business. 

 
 
 

Gross 
premiums 

written
2020

€’000

 Gross 
premiums 

earned
2020

€’000

 Gross 
claims 

incurred
2020

€’000

 Gross 
operating
expenses 

2020
€’000

 Outward
reinsurance

 
2020

€’000

 Technical
result

 
2020

€’000

Credit Reinsurance 326,558 336,981 (254,453) (141,381) 3,871 (54,982)

Bond Reinsurance 81,720 88,067 (37,027) (53,443) (11,811) (14,214)

Total 408,278 425,048 (291,480) (194,824) (7,940) (69,196)
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Gross 
premiums 

written
2019

€’000

 Gross 
premiums 

earned
2019

€’000

 Gross 
claims 

incurred
2019

€’000

 Gross 
operating
expenses 

2019
€’000

 Outward
reinsurance

 
2019

€’000

 Technical
result

 
2019

€’000

Credit Reinsurance 452,978 430,508 (203,049) (201,008) (9,180) 17,271

Bond Reinsurance 88,303 83,721 (37,769) (37,762) (1,585) 6,605

Total 541,281 514,229 (240,818) (238,770) (10,765) 23,876

 

Gross premiums written resulting from contracts concluded in:

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Europe 225,452 368,105

Asia 89,529 83,836

North America 45,842 41,612

South America 32,624 29,908

Oceania 8,539 9,866

Africa 6,292 7,954

Total 408,278 541,281
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5 Net investment return

2020 Net 
investment 

income 
Financial 

Year ended 
2020

€'000

Net realised 
gains 

Financial  
Year ended 

2020 
€'000

Net realised 
losses 

Financial  
Year ended 

2020 
€'000

Impairment 
Financial  

Year ended 
2020

€'000

Net 
investment 

expense 
Financial  

Year ended 
2020 

€'000

Net 
investment 

results 
Financial  

Year ended 
2020 

€'000

Equities 1,930 3,684 (3,815) (4,555) - (2,756)

Bonds 1,926 645 (15) - - 2,556

Cash and Cash 
equivalents

(11) - - - - (11)

Other investment 
expenses

- - - - (1,273) (1,273)

 Total 3,845 4,329 (3,830) (4,555) (1,273) (1,484)

 2019 Net 
investment 

income 
Financial 

Year ended 
2019

€'000

Net realised 
gains 

Financial  
Year ended 

2019 
€'000

Net realised 
losses 

Financial  
Year ended 

2019 
€'000

Impairment 
Financial  

Year ended 
2019 

€'000

Net 
investment 

expense 
Financial  

Year ended 
2019 

€'000

Net 
investment 

results 
Financial  

Year ended 
2019 

€'000

Equities 2,500 - (303) (2,482) - (285)

Bonds 3,870 433 (62) - - 4,241

Cash and Cash 
equivalents

192 - - - - 192

Other investment 
expenses

- - - - (1,296) (1,296)

 Total 6,562 433 (365) (2,482) (1,296) 2,852
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6 Claims incurred net of reinsurance 

2020
Gross

€’000
Reinsurance 

€’000
Net

€’000

Outstanding claims brought forward (497,971) 64,359 (433,612)

Movement on provision (64,755) 6,839 (57,916)

Foreign exchange movement on opening provisions 30,367 (4,008) 26,359

Outstanding claims carried forward (532,359) 67,190 (465,169)

2019
Gross

€’000
Reinsurance 

€’000
Net

€’000

Outstanding claims brought forward (479,304) 53,681 (425,623)

Movement on provision (16,318) 9,788 (6,530)

Foreign exchange movement on opening provisions (2,349) 890 (1,459)

Outstanding claims carried forward (497,971) 64,359 (433,612)

7 Provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks

2020
Gross 

€’000
Reinsurance 

€’000
Net 

€’000

Provision for unearned premium brought forward (221,926) 26,027 (195,899)

Movement on unearned premiums and unexpired risks 16,770 (2,433) 14,337

Foreign Exchange movement on opening provisions 11,643 (1,733) 9,910

Provisions for unearned premiums and unexpired risks 
carried forward

(193,513) 21,861 (171,652)

2019
Gross 

€’000
Reinsurance 

€’000
Net 

€’000

Provision for unearned premium brought forward (191,329) 23,907 (167,422)

Movement on unearned premium (27,052) 1,922 (25,130)

Foreign Exchange movement on opening provisions (3,545) 198 (3,347)

Provisions for unearned premium carried forward (221,926) 26,027 (195,899)

Included in the above is a provision at 31st December 2020 for unexpired risks after the balance sheet date of €3.8m (2019:Nil).
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8 Net Operating Expenses

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Net acquisition costs 153,779 195,860

Change in deferred acquisition costs 14,448 12,721

Administrative costs 8,909 9,612

Net operating expenses 177,136 218,193

9 (Loss)/profit on ordinary activities 

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities is stated after charging:

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Investment return 3,071 5,334

Impairment of shares (4,555) (2,482)

Net foreign exchange gains/(losses) 9,047 1,394

Auditors Remuneration (104) (94)

Rentals under operating leases:

-          Land & buildings (458) (477)

-          Other (6) (6)

Depreciation (29) (28)

Staff Costs (3,212) (3,502)

 

Taxation on (losses)/profits 8,160 (3,039)
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10 Staff Costs

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Wages & salaries 2,494 2,848

Social Security costs 275 320

Pensions cost 193 189

Other Costs 250 145

Total 3,212 3,502

The average monthly number of full time employees, including executive directors, during the financial year 2020 was 
comprised as follows:

  2020 2019

Reinsurance activities 11 11

Support 17 17

Total 28 28

11 Auditors’ remuneration 

Auditors’ remuneration for work carried out for the Company in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020 is as 
follows: 

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Audit of individual company accounts (incl. VAT) 58 48

Other Assurance Services (incl. VAT) 46 46

104 94

There were no tax or other non-audit services provided.
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12 Directors’ remuneration 

Number of 
Directors

2020 Number of 
Directors

2019

Emoluments 7 585 7 609

Benefits under long-term incentive 
schemes

- - - -

Gain on exercise of share options - - - -

Contributions paid to a retirement  
benefit schemes:

- Defined benefit scheme - - - -

- Defined contribution scheme 7 43 7 42

Compensation for loss of office  
paid by the Company and other  
termination payments

- - - -

Total 7 628 7 651

13 Employee pension scheme

Eligible staff are members of the defined contribution scheme operated by the Company. The pension cost charges to the 
profit and loss account for the financial year was EUR 193,466 and was fully paid in 2020 (2019: EUR 189,347).

14 Taxation on profit on ordinary activities 

Corporation tax:

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Current Irish tax (219) (2,693)

Deferred tax: origination and reversal of 
timing differences 

8,379 (346)

Total 8,160 (3,039)

There are net deferred tax assets at 31 December 2020 of EUR 8.4 million (2019: EUR 0.2 million). These comprise a deferred 
tax asset of EUR 7.3m (2019: Nil) in respect of unutilised tax losses, and of timing differences in respect of deductible expenses 
of EUR 2.1 million (2019: EUR 1.1 million), offset by deferred tax liabilities of (EUR 1.0m) (2019: EUR 0.9m) in respect of the 
recognition of net fair value gains on available for sale financial investments, and timing differences between the tax allowances 
for the cost of fixed assets for tax purposes and depreciation for accounting purposes of (EUR5k) (2019: (EUR5k)). There are 
no unused tax credits at the end of the reporting period (2019:Nil).
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The current tax charge for the year is different than the current charge that would result from applying the standard rate of 
Irish corporation tax to the profit on ordinary activities before tax. The difference is explained below:

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before tax (65,383) 24,372

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of Irish corpora-
tion tax for the year of 12.5% 

8,173 (3,047)

Effects of:

Disallowable expenses and other items (14) (7)

Income and other items not taxable for tax purposes (8,389) 346

Origination and reversal of timing differences 8,389 (346)

Depreciation in excess of capital allowances (1) (1)

Over provision in respect of previous years           2             16 

  8,160 (3,039)

15 Financial Investments 

The carrying value of the Company’s available for sale financial investments are summarised below:

 
Available-for-sale

Market Value 
2020

€’000

Purchase Value 
2020

€’000

Market Value 
2019

€’000

Purchase Value 
2019

€’000

Equities – listed 88,089 73,361 94,908 77,558

Short Term Investments 761 761 628 628

Debt securities and other fixed 
income securities - listed 

983,918 981,559 952,030 947,386

Total 1,072,768 1,055,681 1,047,566 1,025,572

For debt securities and other fixed income securities the amount repayable at maturity totals EUR 979,855 
(2019: EUR 937,772).
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16 Debtors arising out of reinsurance operations

Measured at undiscounted amounts receivable 

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Amounts owed by holding and fellow subsidiary undertakings due in less than 
one year

30,984 83,086

Amounts owed by third parties due in less than one year 116,544 113,621

Total 147,528 196,707

17 Tangible fixed assets

2020 Furniture &  
Equipment 

€’000

Total 
€’000

Costs    

As at 1 January 2020 845 845

Additions 18 18

Disposals - -

As at 31 December 2020 863 863

    

Accumulated Depreciation   

As at 1 January 2020 778 778

Provided in the financial year 29 29

Disposals - -

As at 31 December 2020 807 807

     

Net book amount at 31 December 2020 56 56

Net book amount at 31 December 2019 67 67
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18 Other Assets 

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Net Deferred Tax Assets 8,391 176

Current Tax assets 475 844

Other assets 528 673

Total 9,394 1,693

19 Creditors arising out of reinsurance operations 

Measured at undiscounted amounts payable

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Amounts owed to holding and fellow subsidiary undertakings 33,939 68,125

Amounts owed to third parties 40,709 35,021

Total 74,648 103,146

20 Other creditors 

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

PAYE 46 51

PRSI 64 72

VAT 153 93

Other taxation 8 9

Other creditors 3,713 3,589

Total 3,984 3,814
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21 Provisions for liabilities 

Unused annual leave provision included in Other creditors

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

As at 1 January 17 17

Change in provision - -

As at 31 December 17 17

The leave pay provision represents the holiday balance accrued as a result of services rendered in the current financial year and 
which employees are entitled to carry forward. The provision is measured as the salary cost payable for the period of absence.  

22 Capital & Reserves

  Called up 
Share 

Capital 
€’000

Capital 
Contribution

€’000

Revaluation 
Reserve

€’000

Profit &
Loss

€’000

Total  
€’000

As at 1 January 2020 635 279,054 19,065 375,927 674,681

Loss for the financial year - - - (57,223) (57,223)

Other comprehensive income - - 1,140 - 1,140

As at 31 December 2020 635 279,054 20,205 318,704 618,598

As at 1 January 2019 635 279,054 43 354,594 634,326

Profit for the financial year - - - 21,333 21,333

Other comprehensive income - - 19,022 - 19,022

As at 31 December 2019 635 279,054 19,065 375,927 674,681

The Called up share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. The authorised share capital of 
Atradius Reinsurance DAC amounts to EUR 635,000, all of which relates to called up share capital, presented as equity, and is 
divided into 635,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 1 each (2019: the same).

The capital contribution represents capital received from our shareholders.

The revaluation reserve represents accumulated changes to the fair value of existing available-for-sale financial investments 
since their acquistion. Deferred taxes are provided for unrealised gains or losses arising from changes in the revaluation reserve 
and are included in other comprehensive income.

The profit and loss reserve represents all current and prior financial years retained profits and losses.  
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23 Operating lease commitments 

At 31 December 2020 the Company’s total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable leases were as follows: 

  2020
€’000

2019
€’000

Within 1 year 161 321

Between 1 & 5 years - 471

After 5 years - -

During the financial year an amount of EUR 320,658 (2019: EUR 320,508) has been recognised as an expense.

24 Subordinated Loan

On 20 April 2016 the shareholders of Atradius N.V. provided a subordinated loan to Atradius Reinsurance DAC with a principal 
amount of EUR 75 million. The subordinated loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 5.0% per annum, payable annually in arrears 
on 20 April each year until and including the maturity date: 20 April 2026. Atradius Reinsurance DAC may redeem the loan on 
the first call date, 20 April 2021, or thereafter on each interest payment date. 

The subordinated loan qualifies as a Tier 2 basic own funds item as set out in article 73 of the European Commission’s Solvency 
II Delegated Regulation (2015/35). 

The fair value estimate of the subordinated loan issued to Atradius Reinsurance DAC is EUR 78.2 million (2019: EUR 81.9 
million). The fair value of the subordinated loan is classified as Level 2 under the fair value hierarchy and as Tier 2 basic own 
funds for Solvency II. The fair value of the subordinated loan is based on a valuation model using observable market data. 

The fair value estimate of the subordinated loan is provided by an external independent valuation company, which uses its own 
proprietary valuation systems to value securities supported by economic and market assumptions from financial information 
providers. The model calculates the present value of the subordinated loan’s cash flows discounted using the Euro govern-
ment bond yield curve as a benchmark and applying an appropriate risk spread. The risk spread applied is estimated using the 
credit spreads of market quoted subordinated bond issues from similar issuers and with similar rating and maturity profiles.

25 Commitments 

As at 31 December 2020, there were collaterised deposits, letters of credit and reinsurance trusts issued in the amount of 
EUR 40,508,336 (2019: EUR 45,138,506). These deposits, letters of credit and reinsurance trusts are issued in relation to our 
clients’ regulatory requirements. 
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26 Reclassifications of comparatives 

Comparative figures have been reclassified where necessary to conform to the current year’s presentation.

27 Immediate and ultimate parent company 

Atradius Investments Limited, a company incorporated in Ireland, is the Company’s parent company. Financial statements 
for Atradius Investments Limited are available from the 2nd Floor, La Touche House, International Financial Services Centre, 
Dublin D01 R5P3.

Atradius Investments Limited is a subsidiary of Atradius N.V., a company incorporated in the Netherlands. Atradius N.V.’s ulti-
mate parent is Grupo Catalana Occidente, S.A., a company incorporated and listed in Spain. 

The largest group into which the financial statements of Atradius Reinsurance DAC are consolidated is Grupo Catalana 
Occidente, S.A., following consolidation into Atradius N.V.

The consolidated financial statements are publicly available on its website www.grupocatalanaoccidente.com. 

The financial statements of Atradius Reinsurance DAC can be found on its website www.atradiusre.com.

28 Events after the reporting date

There are no events after the reporting date which require adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.

29 Related party transaction 

The total remuneration for key management personnel for the financial year totalled EUR 628,000 (2019: EUR 651,000), 
being remuneration disclosed in Note 12 of EUR 628,000 (2019: EUR 651,000). 

Intercompany balances with Atradius N.V. are unsecured and free from guarantees. They are settled periodically, typically on 
a monthly basis.

30 Approval of the Financial Statements 

The directors approved the financial statements on 1st March 2021.
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